1988

Walter P. Larson v. Stephen Wade : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT
AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This is an appeal from an order of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick presiding, denying a motion of plaintiffs [hereinafter sometimes "the Larsons" or "Mr. Larson" as appropriate by context] for a one day extension of time to appeal a prior order of the district court dismissing plaintiffs' entire complaint against defendants on grounds of Utah's four year statute of limitations, Section 78-12-25, Utah Code (R. 73, 94, Add. 4). This court has jurisdiction of this appeal under Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the District Court err in denying plaintiffs' motion for a one day extension of time to appeal the district court's dismissal of plaintiffs' complaint, where (1) defendants provided no notice of entry of judgment as required by Rule 58A(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, (2) plaintiffs' counsel did not in fact know judgment had been entered; (3) plaintiffs' counsel affirmatively told plaintiffs that the order had not yet been signed so there was no need to file a notice of appeal; (4) plaintiff Mr. Larson learned, one day late, of the deadline for filing a notice of appeal through his own efforts; (5) plaintiff Mr. Larson filed a pro se notice of appeal, that same day, through his own efforts; (6) the Larson family no longer resided in this state; (7) the Larson family's California home was threatened with foreclosure; and (8) one member of the Larson family was experiencing blindness and nervous breakdown, and another was suffering from traumatic neck injury?

2. Alternatively, did the District Court err in refusing to permit Mr. Larson, who had come from California to the hearing on plaintiffs' motion for an extension of time to appeal, to testify or otherwise present supplemental evidence as to the reasons for which the notice of appeal was filed one day late?

3. Did the District Court err in dismissing plaintiffs' entire complaint, including plaintiffs' claims in both tort and contract, because of bankruptcy court confirmation more than four years prior to the filing of suit, of a plan of

reorganization put forth by an entity which is not a party to either this suit or to the oral agreement?

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,
ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS

Rule 4(e) of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court provides:

"The district court, upon a showing of excusable neglect or good cause, may extend the time for filing a notice of appeal upon motion filed not later than 30 days after the expiration of the time prescribed by Paragraph (a) of this rule. Any such motion which is filed before expiration of the prescribed time may be ex parte unless the district court otherwise requires. Notice of any such motion which is filed after expiration of the prescribed time shall be given to the other parties in accordance with the district court rules of practice. No extension shall exceed 30 days past the prescribed time or 10 days from the date of entry of the order granting the motion, whichever occurs later."

Rule 4(a) of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court provides in part:

"...[T]he notice of appeal required by Rule 3 shall be filed with the clerk of the district court within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from...."

Rule 58A(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

"The prevailing party shall promptly give notice of the signing or entry of judgment to all other parties and shall file proof of service of such notice with the clerk of the court. However, the time for filing a notice of appeal is not affected by the notice requirement of this provision."

Section 78-12-25 Utah Code provides, in part:

"Within four years:

(1) An action upon a contract, obligation, or liability not founded upon an instrument in writing....

(2)

(3) An action for relief not otherwise provided for by law."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a suit by plaintiffs against defendants for breach of contract, interference with business relations, breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, conversion, and punitive damages (R. 2-9, Add. 1).

Course of Proceedings

By order entered July 14, 1988, the District Court dismissed plaintiffs' amended complaint in its entirety (R. 73-74, Add. 4). Thereafter, on August 16, 1988, plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal and a "Notice of Extension of Time to Appeal" (R. 75-78, Add. 5-6).

Thereafter, on September 12, 1988, a hearing convened on plaintiffs' "Notice of Extension of Time to Appeal," deemed to be a Rule 4(e) motion for extension of time to appeal, and the court denied plaintiffs' motion (R. 89, Add. 8, 11). On September 14, 1988, plaintiffs filed a timely notice of appeal from this denial (R. 90-91, Add. 9).

Disposition in the Court Below

The court below dismissed plaintiffs' amended complaint in its entirety (R. 73-74, Add. 4) and thereafter denied plaintiffs' motion for extension of time to appeal (R. 89, 97-98, Add. 8, 11).

Statement of Facts

1. On June 24, 1987, plaintiffs filed their complaint against defendants alleging:

a. breach of an oral contract to purchase Larson Ford Sales, Inc., to hold plaintiffs' harmless from certain debts and obligations of the business, and to provide other benefits;

b. interference with business relations in inducing third parties to breach their agreement with Mr. Larson;

c. breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and conversion in that defendant Stephen Wade used his status as a bishop in the L. D. S. Church to acquire confidential information from the plaintiffs and thereafter used that information to convert substantial assets of Larson Ford Sales, Inc. (R. 1-7).

2. On July 9, 1987, plaintiffs filed their first amended complaint which stated the same causes of action (R. 11-19, Add. 1).

3. On July 28, 1987, defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss (R. 7-8).

4. Defendants based their motion to dismiss on the Second Amended Plan of Reorganization of Stephen Wade, Inc. in the bankruptcy case of Larson Ford Sales, Inc., confirmed on June 10, 1983, more than four years prior to filing of the Larsons' complaint in this action (R. 34-36, Add. 2).

5. Defendants never placed the confirmed plan itself into evidence in this action. cf. Record.

6. Plaintiffs opposed this motion to dismiss by arguing

that the statute of limitations constitutes an affirmative defense which must be affirmatively pled by way of answer (R. 47) and by submitting an affidavit from plaintiff Walter P. Larson to the following:

(a) that he learned of the default under the oral contract only on June 24, 1983, within four years prior to filing, when he was ordered to vacate the Larson Ford Sales facilities;

(b) that the \$200,000.00 parts inventory converted by defendants was intact as of June 24, 1983 and that an official sale of the final \$5,000.00 portion of those parts did not occur until eighteen months after June 24, 1983; and

(c) that Stephen Wade, Inc., which submitted the plan of reorganization confirmed by the bankruptcy court, was not a party to the present suit (R. 49-50, Add. 3).

7. On October 19, 1987, Judge Sawaya took defendants' motion under advisement and thereafter, on October 29, 1987, recused himself from the action (R. 53).

8. On March 25, 1988, the Larsons' counsel withdrew from the proceedings (R. 56).

9. On June 7, 1988, Dannis M. Adamson and Peter H. Waldo entered their appearance as counsel for the Larsons (R. 70).

10. On June 20, 1988, Judge J. Dennis Frederick heard argument on defendants' motion to dismiss (R. 27).

11. Judge Frederick signed an Order dismissing plaintiffs' entire complaint on July 14, 1988 (R. 74, Add. 4); the Order was

entered that same day (R. 73-74).

12. The record discloses no notice of signing or entry of judgment from defendants to plaintiffs as required by Rule 58A(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. cf. Record.

13. On August 16, 1988, plaintiff Walter Park Larson, filed a pro se Notice of Appeal [Supreme Court Case No. 880386] (R. 77, Add. 6) and a "Notice of Extension of Time to Appeal" (R. 75, Add. 5).

14. This notice of appeal was one day late, the last day for filing a notice of appeal being Monday, August 15, 1988, the thirtieth day after July 14, 1988 falling on a Saturday (R. 94).

15. Thereafter, the Larsons' new counsel, John J. Borsos, noticed for hearing on September 12, 1988 plaintiffs' Motion for Extension of Time to Appeal, previously mistitled a "Notice of Extension of Time to Appeal" (R. 80).

16. In connection with that hearing, Peter H. Waldo filed an affidavit stating:

a. that he had discussed with the Larsons the option of an appeal of the dismissal;

b. that he was not aware of the time of entry of the Order of dismissal;

c. that no appeal was filed by his office due to a lack of communication with the Larsons (R. 87-88, Add. 7).

17. At the hearing on September 12, 1988, the Larsons' attempted to present their reasons for filing one day late by

profer and by oral testimony because Mr. Larson had been in San Diego defending against a foreclosure of his home there, but Judge Frederick did not permit the Mr. Larson to do so (R. 91, 95, Add. 9, 10).

18. The Court denied the Larsons' motion for extension of time to appeal [the order expressly reciting denial of "plaintiffs'" motion in the plural form], (R. 89, Add. 8, 11) and the plaintiffs, on September 14, 1988, filed a timely notice of appeal to this court, which appeal is the basis of this proceeding (R. 90, Add. 9).

19. Walter P. Larson filed an affidavit dated September 13, 1988 stating the following:

a. After retaining Adamson and Waldo to represent him in connection with the pending motion for dismissal, Mr. Larson returned to San Diego to report for a new job and to fight a pending eviction (R. 93, Add. 10).

b. Mr. Larson's 20 year old daughter Rachel had gone blind in one eye and was in the midst of a nervous breakdown, and his 14 year old son Nathan was immobilized from a traumatic neck injury (R. 93, Add. 10).

c. He had asked his counsel to request a continuance of the hearing on the motion to dismiss but this did not occur (R. 93, Add. 10).

d. He did so because he had an affidavit coming from Connecticut for the hearing on the motion to dismiss but it had not yet arrived (R. 93, Add. 10).

e. After the hearing on the motion to dismiss, his counsel Mr. Waldo told him "that he would have no problem making an appeal or asking for a re-hearing and said he and his partner would decide which course of action would be best" (R. 94, Add. 10).

f. Mr. Larson then returned to San Diego to fend off the pending foreclosure (R. 94, Add. 10).

g. Thereafter, he "called Mr. Waldo at least three times and was told the court had not yet signed the order so there was no need to file a notice of appeal" (R. 94, Add. 10).

h. On August 15, 1988, Mr. Waldo called Mrs. Larson on another matter, at which time she asked him about the appeal to which he responded that "he did not know when the last day to file was" (R. 94, Add. 10).

i. On calling the Clerk of the Court the next morning, Mr. Larson learned that the last day to file an appeal had been Monday, the day before (R. 94, Add. 10).

j. Upon being so informed, Mr. Larson made arrangements for the immediate filing of a notice of appeal that same day and a subsequent hearing on his motion for an extension of time to appeal (R. 94-95, Add. 10).

k. At the hearing on his motion for an extension of time to appeal, Mr. Larson sought to present his reasons for filing an appeal one day late by proffer and by oral testimony because he had again come from California for the hearing, but this was refused (R. 95, Add. 10), and the motion for an

extension was denied (R. 89, Add. 8, 11).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in denying plaintiffs' Rule 4(e) motion for a one day extension of time to appeal the District Court's dismissal of plaintiffs' complaint, where (1) defendants provided no notice of entry of judgment as required by Rule 58A(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, (2) plaintiffs' counsel did not in fact know judgment had been entered; (3) plaintiffs' counsel affirmatively told plaintiff that the order had not yet been signed so there was no need to file a notice of appeal; (4) plaintiff Mr. Larson learned, one day late, of the deadline for filing a notice of appeal through his own efforts; (5) Mr. Larson filed a pro se notice of appeal, that same day, through his own efforts; (6) plaintiffs no longer resided in this state; (7) the Larson family home in California home was threatened with foreclosure; and (8) one member of plaintiff's family was experiencing blindness and a nervous breakdown, and another was suffering from traumatic neck injury.

Alternatively, the District Court erred in refusing to permit plaintiff, who had come to the hearing from California, to testify as to his intent and to the reasons for which the notice of appeal was filed one day late and the case should be remanded for the taking of further evidence on the question of whether or not the notice of appeal was one day late due to excusable neglect or good cause.

The District Court erred in dismissing plaintiffs' entire

complaint, including plaintiffs' claims in tort, pursuant to Utah's four year statute of limitations, Section 78-12-25 Utah Code, solely on the grounds that Stephen Wade, Inc., an entity which is neither a party to the oral agreement nor to this suit, had obtained confirmation of a plan of reorganization more than four years prior to filing of plaintiffs' complaint.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT'S REFUSAL TO EXTEND THE TIME FOR FILING A NOTICE OF APPEAL FOR ONE DAY SHOULD BE REVERSED ON GROUNDS OF BOTH EXCUSABLE NEGLIGENCE AND GOOD CAUSE.

In this case, the court squarely confronts the failure of a prevailing party below, in this case the defendants, to comply with Rule 58A(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and to provide to the plaintiffs notice of signing or entry of judgment, as a result of which, plaintiff's counsel did not know that judgment had been entered and affirmatively represented to plaintiffs that no judgment had been entered. As a consequence, no appeal was filed within 30 days after entry of the order of dismissal.

Defendants should not profit from their omission.

There is no Rule 58A(d) in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, however, Rule 77(d) of the Federal Rules requires the Clerk of the Court to serve notice of entry of judgment upon all parties not in default. Rule 77(d) provides that "lack of notice of the entry by the clerk does not affect the time to appeal or relieve or authorize the court to relieve a party for

failure to appeal within the time allowed, except as permitted in Rule 4(a) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure."

Similarly, Rule 58A(d) provides that "the time for filing a notice of appeal is not affected by the notice requirement of this provision."

Under the federal rules it is clear that, although the failure of the clerk to provide notice does not automatically extend the time to appeal, that failure is "certainly a factor in the excusable neglect determination" in the context of a motion to extend the time to appeal. McGarr v. United States, 736 F. 2d 912 (3rd Cir., 1984).

This court has taken a similar approach. In Graco v. Ironwood Exploration, 735 P. 2d 62 (Utah, 1987), the lower court granted an ex parte extension of time to appeal, apparently on the ground that no 58A(d) notice was provided. This court remanded to permit respondents an opportunity to oppose the motion since the motion was made after the expiration of the initial thirty day period to appeal. This Court could have said that the failure to provide a Rule 58A(d) notice is not relevant in the context of a motion for an extension of time to appeal and summarily reversed the extension, but it did not do so, all of which indicates that this court does indeed view the failure to provide such notice as a factor to consider in the context of a motion for extension of time to appeal.

In the present case, plaintiff's notice of appeal was only one day late. In fact, plaintiff caused a notice of appeal to be

filed immediately upon learning that a judgment had in fact been entered and that the last for filing an appeal had expired the day before (R. 94, Add. 10). He did all of this despite the fact that he was residing out of state (R. 94, Add. 10). All of this should show to the Court that the plaintiff did indeed intend to appeal and that he did indeed rely on representations of counsel that no judgment had yet been entered, which representations his counsel would not have made had a Rule 58A(d) notice been provided.

In Reagan Outdoor Adv. v. Utah Dept. of Transp., 589 P. 2d 782 (Utah, 1979), this court considered then Section 27-12-136.9 Utah Code, which required an appeal from a transportation commission decision to "be taken within 30 days of the commission's decision." It concluded that this language really meant that an appeal must be taken "within 30 days after reasonable notice of the Commission's decision," 589 P. 2d at 783. In so doing, it reversed the district court and saved the appeal from dismissal. This court did so even though the appellant had actual knowledge of the decision well within 30 days after the Commission's decision had been made.

Certainly the plaintiffs in this proceeding, who had no notice of any kind until the time to appeal had expired, should receive one more day for the filing of a notice of appeal, particularly where Rule 58A(d) places a responsibility to give notice squarely on the defendants, and no such notice was provided.

In ruling on plaintiff's motion for an extension of time to appeal, the lower court had before it only the affidavit of Peter Waldo, prior counsel for the plaintiff, containing his explanation as to why no notice of appeal had been filed. Mr. Waldo says that the option of an appeal was discussed but no final arrangements were made (R. 87, Add. 7). He further says that he was not aware that the order had been signed and was therefore unaware of the passage of time for an appeal (R. 87-88, Add. 10). Thus, from Mr. Waldo's viewpoint, the question of appealing was open but undecided, due in large part to the fact that to his knowledge no order had been signed and therefore no final decision needed to be made.

From Mr. Larson's viewpoint, however, there is little question but that he intended to appeal (R. 94-95, Add. 10). This is shown not just from his affidavit but from his actions in filing a pro se appeal the very day he learned of entry of the order of dismissal and of the running of the time to appeal.

It should be obvious from reviewing the affidavits of Mr. Waldo and Mr. Larson that there is a clear conflict between the attorney, who has other concerns since the time to appeal has expired, and the client who very definitely wants to appeal.

Significantly, neither Mr. Waldo nor Mr. Adamson appeared with Mr. Larson at the court's hearing on plaintiff's motion for an extension of time to appeal (R. 89, Add. 8). Under these circumstances, Mr. Larson should have been permitted to explain as fully as he desired his intent to appeal and the reasons for

which his appeal was filed one day late. Instead, the lower court refused to permit him to testify in person at all, despite his coming from San Diego to do so.

The intent of a party to appeal is clearly a significant factor in determining whether or not a motion for extension of time to appeal should be granted and has justified such extensions in many cases. United States v. Ford, 627 F. 2d 807 (7th Cir., 1980); United States v. Reyes, 759 F. 2d 351 (4th Cir., 1985); Shah v. Hutto, 704 F. 2d 717 (4th Cir., 1983). In each of these cases, the appellants were aware of the deadline for appealing, yet their appeals were late because of mailing delays or for similar reasons. In each case, the appellate court concluded that the lower court would have found excusable neglect and on that basis ruled from the appellate level that the late filing was excusable.

In the present case, Mr. Larson was unaware of the deadline for appealing, yet upon being informed of entry of the order of dismissal and the passage of time to appeal, he immediately caused a notice of appeal to be filed. In so doing, he demonstrated his intent and his desire to appeal, notwithstanding (1) no notice of entry of judgment from defendants, (2) his counsel's ignorance of when judgment had entered, (3) representations from his counsel that the order had not been signed, (4) learning through his own investigation of the passage of the deadline for appealing, (5) immediate filing of a pro se appeal, (6) all while threatened with foreclosure and severe stress in his family

through illness. His late filing should be excused and under these circumstances, the failure to provide notice of entry of judgment should be deemed good cause for a one day extension of time to appeal.

This case is not unlike In re Buckingham Super Markets, Inc. 631 F. 2d 763 (D. C. C. A., 1980), in which excusable neglect was found from confusion over which attorney would file the notice of appeal since it was clear that the appealing party wanted to appeal. In that case the court outlined the history of the federal rule:

"The history of [federal rule] Rule 4(a) indicates that the excusable neglect standard has been applied with diminishing rigidity, and while extensions of time are not granted as a matter of course, they are available upon the proper showing. The civil rules did not provide for extensions of time for appeal at all until 1946. From then until the 1966 amendment, former Rule 73(a), Fed. R. Civ. P., permitted an extension of 30 days for filing a notice of appeal in a civil case only 'upon a showing of excusable neglect based on a failure of a party to learn of the entry of the judgment.' [Citations omitted] The 1966 amendment to this exception changed it to read simply 'upon a showing of excusable neglect.' The Advisory Committee Notes to this amendment to former Rule 73(a) recognize that failure to learn of entry of judgment will constitute excusable neglect, but do not indicate what further grounds satisfy the standard, other than to emphasize that the district court should exercise its discretion to grant extensions of time 'where injustice would otherwise result.' Most recently, the Supreme Court again amended the rule, effective August 1, 1979, to provide that time for appeal may be extended 'upon a showing of excusable neglect or good cause.'" 631 F. 2d at 765.

Under the federal rules, the clerk of the court is to provide notice of entry of judgment. Under our rules, the prevailing party is to do so. While there is some reluctance in

federal practice to condone late filings because of errors by a neutral party, i. e., the court clerk, there should be no such reluctance when the failure is that of the prevailing party. To hold otherwise is to permit the prevailing party to benefit from his own omission.

Many practioners in this state view the Rule 58A(d) notice requirement as meaningless. In this case, however, its omission made a significant difference. This case should be reversed accordingly.

II. ISSUES OF FACT AND A CORRECT VIEW OF THE LAW OF LIMITATION OF ACTIONS AS IT APPLIES TO CONTRACT REPUDIATION REQUIRE REVERSAL OF THE ORDER OF DISMISSAL.

Summary judgment is appropriate only if there "is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In this case, the lower court treated defendants' motion to dismiss as one for summary judgment and ordered dismissal of plaintiffs' entire complaint.

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