1988

Walter P. Larson v. Stephen Wade : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The only issue properly presented for appeal is whether the district court abused its discretion in denying plaintiffs' motion for an extension of time to appeal after the notice of appeal was filed late. Not only did the district court act well within the boundaries of its discretion, but its ruling in denying plaintiffs' Motion for Extension of Time was clearly correct.

Plaintiffs have failed to make a sufficient showing of excusable neglect. The only reason given for the late filing -- that plaintiffs' attorney did not know the last day in which notice of appeal could be filed -- indicates inadvertence and oversight on the part of plaintiffs' counsel. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion.

^{3/} Defendants object to the consideration of paragraph 19 of plaintiffs' Statement of Facts since those facts were not considered by the district court in ruling on plaintiffs' Motion for Extension of Time. R. 89 and 90-95. See Point IIA, infra.

Defendants petition the Court to strike Section II of plaintiffs' brief. That section addresses the district court's ruling on defendants' motion to dismiss. An appeal on that decision has already been dismissed by this Court. Furthermore, plaintiffs did not raise any issue addressed in Section II as an issue in their docketing statement. These arguments are not properly before the Court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR AN EXTENSION OF TIME.

Rule 4(a) of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court, provides that a "notice of appeal . . . shall be filed with the clerk of the district court within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from." The filing of a notice of appeal within thirty days of the entry of judgment is a jurisdictional prerequisite essential to securing appellate review. Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 676 P.2d 952, 958 (Utah 1984). See Browder v. Director, Dep't of Corrections, 434 U.S. 257, 264-65 (1978); Mayfield v. United States Parole Comm'n, 647 F.2d 1053, 1055 n.5 (10th Cir. 1981) (per curiam).

The court may grant an extension of time in which to file a notice of appeal "upon a showing of excusable neglect or good cause" Utah RSC 4(e). However, this Court has declared that standard "necessarily a strict one." Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 676 P.2d at 959. See

Varian-Eimac Inc. v. Lamoreaux, 767 P.2d 569, 570-71 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (Utah appellate courts have consistently held that jurisdiction is terminated once a statutory time limit is exceeded). Furthermore, a district court's factual determination in applying that standard will not be overturned absent an abuse of the court's discretion. Buckley v. United States, 382 F.2d 611, 615 (10th Cir. 1967), cert. denied, 390 U.S. 997 (1968); Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 676 P.2d at 961.

The Advisory Committee Notes to Rules of the Utah Supreme Court, Rule 4 states:

Excusable neglect or good cause under [Rule 4] refers generally to an extraordinary circumstance that prevented the movant from filing a timely notice of appeal and not to inadvertence or oversight on the part of counsel or to the failure of the client to authorize an appeal.

The Supreme Court of Utah has reaffirmed that "[i]nadvertence or mistake of counsel does not constitute the type of unique or extraordinary circumstances contemplated by [the] strict standard" of Rule 4. Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 676 P.2d at 960.

In this case, plaintiffs have failed to show any extraordinary circumstances. The only reason offered for the late filing is that the attorney "did not know when the last day to file an appeal was." Appellants' Brief at 9 (emphasis added). There is no dispute that plaintiffs' attorney was present in court on June 20, 1988 when the district court made its ruling and that both plaintiffs and their attorney were aware of that

ruling. Rule 4(c) of Rules of the Utah Supreme Court allows for a notice of appeal to be filed prior to the entry of an order. The appeal therefore could have been filed immediately after the district court's decision was announced in court.^{4/} The decision to wait until the last possible day -- and to then fail to calculate what that day was -- amounts to nothing other than inadvertence and oversight.

In their brief, plaintiffs also claim that their attorney stated that "'the court had not yet signed the order so there was no need to file a notice of appeal.'" Appellants' Brief at 9 (citing R. 94). This statement indicates that counsel was aware of the opportunity to file but rather chose to wait until after the entry of the order. This further indicates inadvertence, not extraordinary circumstances.

The affidavit of Peter Waldo, filed in support of plaintiff's Motion for Extensions of Time, states in paragraph 4 that "[d]ue to lack of communications with the Larsons, an appeal was not filed by our office." R. at 87-88. This statement also demonstrates oversight and inadvertence on the part of plaintiffs' attorney. Lack of communication between counsel and client does not give rise to a showing of extraordinary circumstance. See Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co.,

^{4/} This appeal is taken from an order entered September 19, 1988. The notice of appeal was filed prior to the entry of the order on September 13, 1988, and only one day after the hearing. Plaintiffs are obviously aware of the provisions of Rule 4(c).

676 P.2d at 960-61. The Waldo affidavit actually supports the district court's ruling.

The affidavit of Walter Larson upon which plaintiffs now rely so extensively, see Appellants' Brief at 8, ¶ 19, was not before the district court at the time of the hearing on September 12, 1988. The Larson affidavit is dated September 13, 1988, one day after the district court decided this matter. The affidavit was filed as an attachment to the notice of appeal. Since this affidavit was not considered by the district court it is not properly part of the record on appeal and cannot be considered by this Court in determining whether the lower court abused its discretion.

The affidavit, even if considered, does not demonstrate excusable neglect. Plaintiffs lament that they had moved from the state, that the California family home was threatened with foreclosure, and that one of the family members was suffering blindness and a nervous breakdown while another had sustained a traumatic neck injury. Appellant's Brief at 10. Furthermore, plaintiffs complain that there is now a conflict between themselves and the attorney who represented them throughout the time period for appeal. However, these facts are irrelevant to the issue of excusable neglect. As the Tenth Circuit stated in Buckley, "[t]he multiplication of inadequate reasons for holding [counsel's] neglect excusable serves only to emphasize their inadequacy." Buckley v. United States, 382 F.2d at 615.

A. Rule 58A(d) Does Not Affect The Time For Filing A Notice Of Appeal.

Plaintiffs rely heavily on Rule 58A(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. However, that rule deals with the entry of a judgment. In this case, the defendants had no obligation under Rule 58A(d) since no judgment was entered. The court simply granted their motion to dismiss.

Furthermore, the rule itself states expressly that "the time for filing a notice of appeal is not affected by the notice requirement of this provision." Utah RCP 58A(d). It is clear that Rule 58A(d) does not extend the filing period, nor does non-compliance give rise to excusable neglect.

The case of McGarr v. United States, 736 F.2d 912 (3rd Cir. 1984), relied on by plaintiffs is distinguishable. In McGarr, the attorney had written two letters to the court seeking an extension of time to appeal prior to the expiration of the period. The court considered the letters as ex parte applications for extensions of time. Id. at 918. In this case, plaintiffs' attorney did nothing prior to the expiration of the period to perfect the appeal. Plaintiffs' reliance on Graco Fishing & Rental Tools Inc. v. Ironwood Exploration, Inc., 735 P.2d 62 (Utah 1987) is similarly misplaced. In that case this Court did not address the extension of time issue but instead remanded "to allow the respondents the opportunity to oppose the appellants' motion for an extension of time . . . , and for the district court to then rule on the motion". Id. at 63. Also

Reagan Outdoor Advertising, Inc. v. Utah Dep't of Transp., 589 P.2d 782 (Utah 1979) is distinguishable. In that case appellant's notice of appeal from an administrative decision was found timely. Id. at 783.

In Buckley v. United States, 382 F.2d at 613, the defendant's attorney attempted to argue that failure to receive notice gave rise to excusable neglect. The Tenth Circuit unequivocally stated that counsel's "claim that his neglect was caused by waiting for a notice from the clerk is not a basis for a plea of excusable neglect." Id. at 614. There -- as here -- "not only . . . was [there] no clear abuse of the trial judge's discretion, but . . . his ruling was clearly correct." Id. at 615.

B. Plaintiffs Were Represented By Counsel At All Relevant Times.

Page 15 of the plaintiffs' brief suggests that their late filing should be considered under a more lenient standard because, subsequent to the inaction of their attorney, they filed a notice of appeal pro se. However, plaintiffs admit that during the period of time during which an appeal could have been filed they were represented by counsel. In fact, the notice of appeal that was filed was actually signed by the attorney on behalf of the plaintiffs. Furthermore, whether the appeal was pro se or not, plaintiffs' failure to make a motion before the end of the filing period extinguished any right to appeal. Mayfield v. United States Parole Comm'n, 647 F.2d at 1055. See Shah v.

Hutto, 722 F.2d 1167, 1168 (4th Cir. 1983) (en banc), cert. denied, 466 U.S. 975 (1984) ("proceeding pro se does not change the clear language" of Rule 4(a)); superseding Shah v. Hutto, 704 F.2d 717 (4th Cir. 1983); United States ex. rel. v. Leonard O'Leary, 788 F.2d 1238, 1240 (7th Cir. 1986) (per curiam) (circuits agree that proceeding pro se does not warrant exception to Rule 4(a)).

II. NO ISSUE RELATING TO THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DEFENSE IS BEFORE THE COURT.

A. Section II Of Plaintiffs' Brief Should Be Stricken.

The district court granted defendants' motion to dismiss on the basis that plaintiffs' causes of action were barred by the statute of limitations. In Section II of their brief, Appellants' Brief at 17-21, plaintiffs undertake to argue that "[i]ssues of fact and a correct view of the law of limitation of actions . . . require reversal of the order of dismissal." Plaintiffs then argue that the district court's decision should be reviewed as though the order of dismissal was on appeal before this Court.^{5/}

An appeal of the order of dismissal has already been dismissed by this Court. Case No. 880386. As part of that ruling, this Court also denied plaintiffs' motion to consolidate

^{5/} Plaintiffs also contend that a statute of limitations defense cannot be raised by a motion to dismiss. This position is contrary to well-established legal authority. See 2A Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 12.10. See In re Estate of Sullivan, 506 P.2d 813, 817 (Wyo. 1973); Kellar v. Snowden, 87 Nev. 488, 489 P.2d 90, 92 (Nev. 1971).

the appeals. By including this argument in their brief, plaintiffs are attempting to obtain indirectly what they could not obtain directly. Furthermore, the issue has been waived since plaintiffs failed to include any reference to the issue in their docketing statement. Any argument relating to a statute of limitations issue is waived. See Reese Enter., Inc. v. Lawson, 220 Kan. 300, 553 P.2d 885, 899 (Kan. 1976) (point asserted for first time in appeal brief must be stricken). Defendants submit that Section II of plaintiffs' brief should be stricken since the issue addressed therein is not properly before the Court.

B. The District Court Properly Granted Defendants' Motion To Dismiss.

Since plaintiffs have argued the district court's grant of dismissal, defendants provide the following summary of arguments for this Court.

Plaintiffs filed their complaint containing four causes of action on June 24, 1987. All four causes of action related to the terms of an alleged verbal agreement whereby defendants supposedly agreed to submit a debtor's plan in the Chapter 11 bankruptcy, In re Larson Ford Sales, Bankruptcy No. 82C-02186, pending in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah. All four causes of action were governed by a four year statute of limitations. U.C.A. § 78-12-25(1) and (3) (1953, as amended).

Plaintiffs' First Claim for Relief was for breach of the alleged verbal agreement in that defendants had filed a

creditor's plan rather than a debtor's plan of reorganization. The creditor's plan which the defendant did submit was confirmed on June 10, 1983 and notice of entry was sent on that same day to all parties by the Bankruptcy Court. As a generally accepted rule, a cause of action upon a verbal contract arises at the time of the contract's breach. Upland Indus. Corp. v. Pacific Gamble Robinson Co., 684 P.2d 638, 643 (Utah 1984). Since the creditor's plan was actually confirmed on June 10, 1983, any breach of the alleged verbal agreement occurred on or before that date. Plaintiffs' claim is time barred since June 10, 1983 is more than four years prior to the commencement of this action.

Plaintiffs' Second Cause of Action, interference with business relations, sounded in intentional tort. The statute of limitations in intentional torts begins to run when the tort or the activity leading to the tort occurs. Obray v. Malmberg, 26 Utah 17, 484 P.2d 160, 162 (Utah 1971). The complaint stated that the acts underlying this cause of action were done "in order that the Defendant Stephen Wade could submit a creditors plan in Chapter 11 bankruptcy." First Amended Complaint, ¶ 13. By plaintiffs' own admission, all of the alleged tortious conduct occurred prior to the defendants' submission of the creditor's plan. Thus, the alleged facts that form the basis for this cause of action also occurred prior to June 10, 1983. Hence this cause of action is also time barred.

Plaintiffs' Third and Fourth Causes of Action included claims for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment,